1982

Utah Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co. v. Orville Andrews & Sons et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At all times relevant to this matter, Defendants/Respondents owned and operated a farm North of Mona, Utah. Approximately eleven years ago, Defendants purchased a two ton Ford Truck chasis in Spanish Fork, Utah. Thereafter, Defendants purchased a Gehl feeder box, to be used in spreading feed for cattle, and attached that box to the truck chasis. This feeder truck was thereafter used on a year round basis for feeding cattle until it was involved in a fatal traffic accident on February 6, 1980.

The feeder truck was not registered nor did it receive a state safety inspection during this period of time. (Deposition of Orville Andrews, p. 21) Prior to the winter of 1979/1980, the feeder truck was used primarily on property around the farmhouse to haul feed to Defendants' cattle. (Deposition of Orville Andrews, p. 15) However, during the four to six weeks prior to the accident of February 6, 1980, Defendants used the feeder truck to haul feed to cattle located on property rented by Defendants which was approximately 5 1/2 miles from Defendants' farm, resulting in a daily round trip of eleven miles on the public highway. (Ibid. pp. 12:

The Farmer Liability Policy, which is the subject of this action, was obtained by the Defendants from Plaintiff in the early 1970's and was merely renewed annually thereafter. Neither at the time of the original purchase of the said policy nor later did

Defendants ever inform Plaintiff or its agent that the feeder truck would be used on the public highway. (Deposition of Neldon Andrews, p. 23)

As of February 6, 1980, Defendants owned four two-ton trucks, two of which were registered and two of which were not. The two which were registered and licensed were used to haul feed, grain and silage into the pit and to haul livestock to market on the public highways on a weekly basis. (Deposition of Orville Andrews, p. 24) These same two trucks were listed on the vehicle schedule of the automobile portion of the subject insurance policy. Of the two trucks that were not registered, one was a manure spreader, used by Defendants to spread manure on their fields in the spring, and the other was the subject feeder truck, neither of which were listed on the vehicle schedule of the subject insurance policy, because Defendants considered both to be just like the other farm machinery. (Deposition of Orville Andrews, p. 24 and Deposition of Neldon Andrews, pp. 12, 23)

On February 6, 1980, at approximately 11:15 a.m., approximately two to three miles from Defendants' farm, Defendant/Appellant, Neldon Andrews, was driving the loaded feeder truck South on Old U.S. 91, on his way to the daily feeding of the cattle on the rented property, when said Defendant/Appellant applied his brakes to avoid hitting a dog in the road. (Deposition of Neldon Andrews, pp. 5 and 6) The brakes on the feeder truck locked, pulling the truck to the left of the center line of the highway, into the path of an on-coming pick-up truck. A collision resulted, causing personal injuries and property damages.

At the time of the said accident, the subject insurance policy, No. 25000-38, was in effect and contained the following exclusion, located on page 3, thereof:

"This policy agreement does not apply:
2. Under coverages F¹ (Bodily Injury Liability), F² (Premises Medical), G (Property Damage Liability, H (Employer's Liability), I (Medical Payments--Employee), or J (Medical Payments--Named Persons) to bodily injury or property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, operation, or use, loading, or unloading of:
b. Any automobile owned or operated by or rented or loaned to any insured. But this subsection (b) does not apply to bodily injury or property damage occurring on the insured premises if the motor vehicle is not subject to motor vehicle registration, because it is used exclusively on the insured premises." (Emphasis added)

That policy defines "automobile ", on page 1 thereof, as follows:

"Automobile means a land motor vehicle, trailer, or semi-trailer, but the word automobile does not include any crawler or farm-type tractor, farm implement and, if not subject to motor vehicle registration, any equipment, which is designed for use principally off public roads." (Emphasis added)

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE SUBJECT FEEDER TRUCK WAS NOT AN AUTOMOBILE UNDER THE FARM LIABILITY POLICY, AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT SINCE, THOUGH IT WAS BEING USED IN THE FARMING OPERATION, IT WAS BEING DRIVEN UPON THE PUBLIC HIGHWAYS EXTENSIVELY AND THUS, ANY DAMAGES OR INJURIES CAUSED BY ITS USE AWAY FROM THE FARM PREMISES, WOULD NOT BE COVERED BY THE FARM POLICY.

The net effect of the first of the above-quoted policy provisions, is that the policy does not cover damages or injuries occurring away from the farm premises and resulting from the opera-

tion or use of an "automobile". The net effect of the second provision, quoted above, is to define an "automobile" under the subject policy. This Brief is directed at that second provision, which defines an "automobile" as a land motor vehicle, trailer, or semi-trailer, with three exceptions. Since there can be no question that Defendants/Respondents' feeder truck was a land motor vehicle, the following discussion is focused on those three exceptions.

1. Is Defendants' feeder truck a crawler or farm-type tractor? Common sense would exclude the truck as a crawler, since it is a truck with a conventional drive train and wheels, that can be driven on highways, at highway speeds. As to whether it is a farm-type tractor, Section 41-1-1(e), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, defines "farm tractor" as "every motor vehicle designed and used primarily as farm implement for drawing plows, mowing machines, and other implements of husbandry." This definition would exclude Defendants/Respondents' feeder truck because it is not designed or used to draw or pull things, but rather to transport and spread chopped hay.

In the case of State vs. Thompson, 101 So.2d 381, 386 (Fla. 1958), the Florida Supreme Court was called on to determine whether trucks used in farming operations on the farm premises the majority of the time, but used on the highways incidentally to the farming operations, were farm tractors entitled to special licensing fees. That court defined "farm tractor" as:

"merely a tractor used in connection with farm and grove pursuits, it is not a load-carrying truck to be used indiscriminately over the highways of the state, merely

because it may be used on a farm 51% of its operational or mileage time."

The statutory definition cited above as well as the definition supplied by the Florida Supreme Court, quoted above, would give the term "farm tractor" its common meaning, and would exclude from that term a truck such as Defendants/Respondents' feeder truck, which was designed and used to haul chopped hay.

2. Is the feeder truck a farm implement? The feeder truck was used as a vehicle to transport and spread chopped hay for Defendants/Respondents' cattle. For over a month prior to the accident on February 6, 1980, the said feeder truck was being driven on the public roads at least eleven miles per day, six days per week. While on the farm premises and engaged in farming operations, the feeder truck was a farm implement, but when the feeder truck was using the public highways to transport feed to cattle 5 1/2 miles from Defendants/Respondents' farm, the feeder truck was a transport vehicle merely engaged in farming operations.

In 7 Am Jur 2d 768 (Automobile Insurance, Section 229), it states:

"It sometimes has been held that a particular vehicle may fall within a policy coverage, as an automobile or motor vehicle, while engaged in one activity and be excluded while engaged in another. A vehicle may be a motor vehicle while traveling on the highway, but not while engaged in off-highway activities."

This is true in regard to the subject feeder truck, which lost its identity as a farm implement when it used the public highways in its eleven mile trip to haul feed to Defendants/Respondents' cattle.

In Nepstad vs. Randall, 82 S.D. 615, 152 N.W. 2d 383, (1967), the South Dakota Supreme Court determined that a motor driven golf cart operated on a golf course was not a "motor vehicle", but when the same cart was operated on the public highway to transport persons or property, it was a "motor vehicle".

In Mission Insurance Company vs. Nethers, 119 Ariz. 405, 581 P.2d 250, 253 (1978), the court stated:

"Exclusions in an insurance contract are strictly construed in favor of the insured and coverage against the insurer. . . . Even so, they must be construed in a reasonable manner and given ordinary meaning and effect to the terms used therein."

The reasonable interpretation of the term "farm implement" would surely include the subject feeder truck while it was being used on the farm premises, but the same term would not reasonably include the feeder truck when it was being used extensively on the public highways traveling at highway speeds and in traffic.

And again as stated in Kansas Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company vs. Cool, 205 Kan. 567, 471 P.2d 352, 357 (1970), "The manner in which a vehicle is used, as well as its construction, is an important factor in determining its character." The highway use of the feeder truck should affect its definition and character as a farm implement.

In the case of Washington National Insurance Co. vs. Burke, 258 S.W. 2d 709, 710 (Kentucky Court of Appeals, 1953), the court stated, "With all the liberality of construction in favor of the insured, in the quest for the intention of the parties, regard must necessarily be had for the fact that a small premium was payable."

The Defendants/Respondents, made the choice not to list the feeder truck on the vehicle schedule of the automobile portion of the subject insurance policy, and rather viewed the feeder truck as farm machinery. By so doing, Defendants/Repondents' insurance premium was reduced, since the rating for a vehicle used on the farm premises would be significantly less than a vehicle used on the highways because of reduced speed, traffic, and likelihood of accidents. The smaller premium was certainly an indication to the Defendants/Respondents that the coverage on the feeder truck was limited. Based on that reasoning, Defendants/Respondents should not be allowed to maintain their position that the subject feeder truck, while being used extensively on the public highway, was a farm implement.

3. Is the feeder truck subject to motor vehicle registration, and if not, is it designed for use principally off public roads?

As to whether the subject feeder truck was subject to registration, Section 41-1-19, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, requires that every motor vehicle be registered when driven or moved on a highway, with certain listed exceptions. Subsection (c) of the above-mentioned section, is the only exception which possibly applies to Defendants/Respondents' feeder truck. This subsection excepts from registration "any implement of husbandry, whether of a type otherwise subject to registration hereunder or not, which is only incidentally operated or moved upon a highway;". However, this subsection is inapplicable when considering the highway use Defendants/Respondents made of the feeder truck, because the truck was operated upon the highways at least eleven miles per day, six days per week, which does not qualify as incidental operation

or movement upon the highways. In the case of Allred vs. Engelman, 123 Tx. 205, 61 S.W. 2d 75, (1933), the Texas Supreme Court found that farm vehicles traveling an average of one-fourth of a mile on public roads running through and enclosed within a single track of land were only temporarily and incidentally using the highways. In the present action, there are two pieces of property separated by 5 1/2 miles of public road which is transversed twice daily by the subject feeder truck. This is not incidental operation or movement upon the highways. Because the feeder truck does not qualify under any of the exceptions to the above-cited statute, the law requires that it be registered.

Should this Court determine that the feeder truck was subject to the registration requirements, the second part of question No. 3 need not be pursued. However, if it is determined that the feeder truck was not subject to registration requirements, an examination must be made as to whether the feeder truck was designed for use principally off public roads. In the case of Terrace Park, Inc. vs. Hartford Fire Insurance Co., 84 S.D. 259, 170 N.W.2d 467, 468 (1969), the court stated: "The word 'designed' has been defined as 'appropriate, fit, prepared, or suitable' and also as 'adaptable, designated, or intended'." As demonstrated by the Defendants/Respondents during the 6 weeks prior to February 7, 1980, the feeder truck was in fact appropriate and adapted to be used principally on public roads. During that time, the majority of its operational mileage was registered over the public highways. The Ford chassis on which the feeder box was attached, was designed for and

capable of use on public roadways. The addition of the feeder box did not alter that design or capability.

CONCLUSION

Defendants/Respondents' feeder truck is an "automobile" within the scope of the subject insurance policy, since it is a land motor vehicle, and it is not a crawler or farm-type tractor, farm implement or, if not subject to motor vehicle registration, equipment which is designed for use principally off public roads.

When the feeder truck was used as a farm implement or equipment on the farm, and only incidentally on the public highway, it was covered under the subject insurance policy. Under these circumstances, there was little risk and thus an appropriately small premium was charged to cover that limited risk. However, when the feeder truck was used as a land motor vehicle on the public highway, as it was at the time of the accident and for six weeks prior thereto, traveling some eleven miles per day on the public highway, it became subject to motor vehicle registration, it became an "automobile", as defined in the subject insurance policy, and it was not covered under the subject insurance policy. Under such circumstances, the risk greatly increased and thus an appropriately larger premium was chargeable in order to cover the greater risk. However, when the Defendants/Respondents changed the use of the feeder truck from a farm implement to a land motor vehicle, no notice was given to Plaintiff/Appellant, and thus Plaintiff/Appellant had no opportunity to decide whether or not to insure the feeder truck under the automobile policy and if so, what amount of premium to charge. At the time of the accident, the feeder truck was not covered under the farm liability policy nor was it listed

as an insured vehicle under the automobile liability policy. Thus, there was no coverage, and the insurer would not have covered it.

It is respectfully submitted that the lower court erred in finding that the subject vehicle was not an "automobile" and this Court should reverse that decision and enter Summary Judgment in favor of Plaintiff/Appellant on the issue that the subject feeder truck was an automobile and damages arising from the use thereof away from the farm premises was excluded from the subject policy.