1982

Utah Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co. v. Orville Andrews & Sons et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

V. ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT WAS CORRECT IN DETERMINING THAT THE SUBJECT FEEDER UNIT WAS NOT AN "AUTOMOBILE" UNDER APPELLANT'S FARM LIABILITY POLICY.

A. Introduction

It is undisputed that, on or about February 6, 1980, the date of the accident giving rise to the instant action, there existed, in full force and effect, a "Country Squire" comprehensive liability insurance policy between Appellant and Respondent (R. 132, 133, 135). Pursuant to the "Farmers-Ranchers Liability" coverage portion of said policy, it was provided that:

"This policy agreement does not apply:

2. Under Coverages F1 (Bodily Injury Liability), F2 (Premises Medical), G (Property Damage Liability), H (Employer's Liability), I (Medical Payments--Employee), or J (Medical Payments--Named Persons) to bodily injury or property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, operation, or use, loading or unloading of:

b. Any automobile owned or operated by or rented or loaned to any insured. But this subsection (b) does not apply to bodily injury or property damage occurring on the insured premises if the motor vehicle is not subject to motor vehicle registration, because it is used exclusively on the insured premises."

Said policy further defines the term "automobile" as follows:

"Automobile means a land motor vehicle, trailer, or semi-trailer, but the word automobile does not include any crawler or farm-type tractor, farm implement and, if not subject to motor vehicle registration, any equipment, which is designed for use principally off public roads."

Pursuant to the above-cited language, where it can be established that the vehicle involved was either a "farm implement" or "equipment" which is not subject to Utah's motor vehicle provisions and is designed to be principally used off public roads it will not be considered an "automobile" and the policy will apply.

Respondents join with the lower court in its decision that the feeder unit in question herein is not an "automobile", and that it is a "farm implement not subject to Utah motor vehicle registration and design[ed] for use principally of public roads" (R. 135). Respondents assert that said lower court decision was correct and should be upheld. Respondents further assert, for the reasons set forth hereinbelow, that Appellant has not and cannot sustain the burden of establishing that the lower court's decision was incorrect as a matter of law, and urge the Court herein to summarily dismiss Appellant's appeal.

B. Insurance Policies are to be Construed Strictly Against the Issuing Company Giving Insured Broadest Protection.

Initially, in scrutinizing the lower court's decision and in considering the issues presented on appeal herein, it is vital that this court remain cognizant of the rules and procedures to be applied in resolving contractual interpretation disputes.

It is a universally accepted rule of contract law that in those instances where a contract or a portion thereof, is found to be ambiguous or unclear, the ambiguous portion is to be construed most strongly against the party drafting the document. Continental Bank and Trust Co. v. Bybee, 6 Utah 2d 98, 306 P.2d 773 (1967). As noted in 43 Am. Jur. 2d, Insurance §271 (1969), this rule of law is particularly applicable to insurance contracts and policies:

"The general rule applicable to contracts generally, that a written agreement should in case of doubt as to the meaning thereof be interpreted against the party that has drawn it, is very frequently applied to policies of insurance. It constitutes an important rule of construction in such respect. In view of the fact that ordinarily and in practically all cases, it is the insurer who furnishes or prepares the policies used to embody insurance contracts. The general rule is that terms in an insurance policy which are ambiguous, equivocal, or uncertain to the extent that intention of the parties is not clear and cannot be ascertained clearly by the application of the ordinary rules of construction, are to be construed strictly and most strongly against the insurer and liberally in favor of the insured so as to effect the dominant purpose of identity or payment to the insured."

The Utah Supreme Court has adopted and applied this principal in numerous cases involving insurance policy construction. Said Court, in Handley v. Mutual Life Insurance Co. of New York, 106 Utah 184, 191, 147 P.2d 319, 322 (1944), stated:

"It is to be granted that a contract in case of ambiguity must be construed against the party who drew it and especially is that so in the case of contracts which are sold widely to the average man under sales talk which cannot be too technical in its expositions and yet which very easily lull him into a belief that he has purchased certain benefits which on closer scrutiny of the contract are asserted not to be included."

See, e.g., American Casualty Co. of Redding, Pa. v. Eagle Star Ins. Co., Ltd., 568 P.2d 731 (Utah 1977); Christensen v. Farmers Ins. Exchange, 21 Utah 2d 194, 443 P.2d 385 (1968).

There can be no doubt that substantial ambiguity exists in the present insurance policy and such uncertainty constitutes the basis of this action and appeal. Consequently, the Court herein must, in its consideration of this appeal, apply the rule as stated in Handley, and construe all ambiguities in the subject policy in Respondent's favor. Similarly, the decision of the lower court should be viewed and scrutinized with recognition for the application of this most important rule of law.

C. The Subject Feeder Unit is a "Farm Implement" and not an "Automobile" Under the Terms of the Subject Insurance Policy.

In accordance with the holding in the lower court and as outlined hereinbelow, the subject feeder unit is a "farm implement" under the terms of the subject insurance policy, thereby constituting a specific exception to the policy's definition of "automobile" (R. 132, 135, 136).

While Utah law is silent as to what constitutes a "farm implement", Utah Code Ann. §41-1-1(m) (1953) provides a definition of the term "Implement of Husbandry":

"Implement of Husbandry." Every vehicle which is designed for agricultural purposes and exclusively used by the owner thereof in the conduct of his agricultural operations."

In light of the accepted definitions of both terms, the vehicles encompassed under "farm implement" and "implement of husbandry" are sufficiently similar, if not in fact identical.

The common definition of "husbandry" is agriculture including both farming and livestock. See Webster's Dictionary. Similarly, Utah Code Ann. §59-5-58 (1953), defines agricultural use in terms of "raising of plants and animals useful to man including...grains and feed crops...livestock, including beef cattle, sheep, swine, horses...." Thus, the meaning of "farm implement" would be similar, if not the same, as the meaning of "implement of husbandry".

It is also relevant to note the unofficial Opinion of the Attorney General of the State of Utah dated September 12, 1982, (R. 105-106), a copy of which is attached as Appendix "A" hereto. That Opinion construed the above-noted statutory section to mean that a vehicle originally constructed for non-agricultural purposes but adapted and modified for agricultural purposes and used exclusively for agricultural purposes is an "implement of husbandry" within the meaning of Utah Code Ann., Sections 41-1-1(m) and 41-1-19(c).

Pursuant to the above-cited definition and Opinions, two requirements must be met in order for a vehicle to qualify as an "Implement of Husbandry". Those requirements are:

- (a) the vehicle must be designed for agricultural purposes; and,
- (b) the vehicle must be used exclusively by the owner in the conduct of his agricultural operations.

In the instant case, as evidenced by the facts as outlined by Appellants and supplemented above, the feeder unit was and is designed solely for the purpose of delivering and distributing feed to livestock; a specialized agricultural function. The facts further show that the said unit was used exclusively for that specified and specialized function.

The record reveals that Respondents, in an effort to improve the efficiency of their farm operations, acquired the

feeder unit to assist in their manual feeding operations and used it to eliminate much of the hand labor associated therewith. Respondents further testified that they did not use the feeder unit for any other purpose and that it would not be economical to use the same to haul grain or run errands (Deposition of Neldon Andrews, p. 25). Respondents have and do operate registered trucks for those purposes (Deposition of Orvil Andrews, p. 23).

Such testimony clearly establishes that the subject unit was designed for a specific agricultural purpose and was used exclusively in connection with Respondent's agricultural operations, as required by statute. Consequently, the subject feeder unit meets the Utah requirements for an "Implement of Husbandry", it is a "farm implement" and not an "automobile", and is, therefore, encompassed by Appellant's insurance policy.

In support of this conclusion, see the case of Allred v. Engelman, 123 Tex. 205, 61 S.W.2d 75 (1933). Allred is a Texas case wherein certain tank trucks, used for hauling water for irrigation and gasoline to tractors in the fields were determined to be "implements of husbandry" within the meaning of a statute strikingly similar to Utah Code Ann. §41-1-19 (1953). The Court in Allred stated:

"The Legislature evidently had in mind that it was impossible to anticipate and expressly describe every motor vehicle whose particular design and use would make of it an implement of

husbandry. It did name the ones that readily come to mind as implements of husbandry, and it was evidently intended by the Legislature that what other vehicles that might be implements of husbandry could be well left to the facts of any particular case, and it was obviously for this reason that the general term "implements of husbandry" was added. It is clear that the purpose of the legislation was to exempt from registration all motor vehicles primarily designed and used for agricultural purposes, temporarily using the highways."

The rationale exhibited in Allred should be applied herein.

Appellant, in its brief, discusses the fact that the feeder unit was used to transport feed on a public highway eleven miles per day (5-1/2 miles each way) six days a week. It is their assertion that the said unit thereby ceased being a farm implement and instead was transformed into a transport vehicle. Such an assertion is obviously contrary to the facts present before the trial court.

There is no evidence of any kind that anything was transported in the feeder unit without the intention of and actually being fed to Respondent's livestock. There is, similarly, no evidence that the subject unit was ever used for any contrary purpose. Additionally, there exists no threshold requirement relating to frequency and extent of operation on public roads or highways in either the term "farm implement" as used in the policy or "implement of husbandry" as defined in the above-cited statute. It is common knowledge that many farm

implements such as tractors, hay wagons and combines move on and transport equipment and commodities on public roads without changing their intended nature or character.

Appellant has undoubtedly insured farmers for years and should certainly be expected to contemplate that farm implements travel from farm to farm on public roads. How else could farmers farming non-contiguous pieces of property move from field to field with their farm implements? If plaintiff had intended to exclude mobile farm implements, the policy should have been written to specifically exclude them from coverage. That was appellant's prerogative in drafting the policy and the logic of the rules of construction discussed above.

The specific design of the feeder truck in question, with its beaters, conveyors and spouts for moving and directing feed, clearly make it an "implement of husbandry" or "farm implement" used to feed livestock. Given the plain meaning of the words used, the feeder unit cannot reasonably be considered an "automobile" as that term is defined by the subject insurance policy, and the lower court's decision in that regard must be upheld. Should there be any doubt, the principals of contract construction applicable to insurance policies dictate that the court construe any and all ambiguities in favor of Respondents herein and uphold the lower court's decision.

Appellant, in arguing that the subject feeder unit was not a "farm implement," cites several cases from outside the state of Utah. None of the cited cases consider statutes or vehicles at all similar to those in question herein and all cases so cited are wholly inapplicable to the issues to be decided herein. Most notable in this respect is the case of Nepstad v. Randall, 82 S.D. 615, 152 N.W. 2d 383 (1967), wherein the South Dakota Supreme Court held solely that "a motor driven goft cart while being operated on a golf course is not a motor vehicle within the meaning of the [South Dakota] guest statute." Nepstad v. Randall, Id. @ 386. The inapplicability of this cite to the instant case is obvious. The other cases cited by Appellant are of a similar nature and totally fail to offer any assistance to the court in its resolution of the instant appeal.

D. The Subject Feeder Unit was "Equipment" not Subject to Motor Vehicle Registration and Designed for use Principally off Public Roads.

In addition to being properly classified as a "farm implement", the lower court held that the subject feeder unit constituted "equipment" not subject to motor vehicle registration and designed for use principally off public roads (R. 135).

1. Not subject to Motor Vehicle Registration.

The applicable Utah statutes relating to the registration of motor vehicles is codified at Title 41 of the

Utah Code Annotated. That statute, in relevant part, provides as follows:

"Every motor vehicle, combination of vehicles, trailer, and semitrailer, when driven or moved upon a highway shall be subject to the registration and certificate of title provisions of this act except:

(c) Any implement of husbandry, whether of a type otherwise subject to registration hereunder or not, which is only incidentally operated or moved upon a highway."

Utah Code Ann. §41-1-19 (1953).

As outlined above, there can be no doubt that the subject feeder unit was an implement of husbandry. It was specifically designed for agricultural purposes; the mechanical unloading and distribution of forage to cattle; and was utilized exclusively by Respondents for that purpose. As such, it is fundamental that the vehicle, so designed and used, is not subject to the applicable registration statutes.

In the case of Allred v. Engleman, supra, @ 422, in holding that certain water and gasoline carrying trucks were not subject to state vehicle registration, the Court stated:

"The further contention is made that these vehicles were not temporarily moved or operated upon the highways, but that they were permanently operated upon the highways, and being so used they were not subject to the exemption from registration. The highways were used by these vehicles, according to the statement of facts, only in passing from orchard to orchard, or from the source of supply of the water to the particular orchard where the water was discharged

for irrigating purposes. Such use of the highways was inevitable because of the manner in which the tract as a whole is cut up and criss-crossed by the roads. Because it so happens, under the facts in this case, that there was laid out across a portion of this tract of land, one or more highways, which necessarily interfered with the operation of these trucks by the owner thereof, in carrying out his agricultural enterprises upon the land, and compelled him temporarily to operate his trucks upon these highways, would not have the effect to subject vehicles to registration when the same vehicles, if used wholly on one tract of land and never touching the highways, would not be subject to registration. The Legislature has defined "temporary" use of the highways as "the operation or conveying between different farms." The facts of this case seem clearly within that definition."

Although the Court in Allred utilized the term "temporarily" instead of "incidentally", as found in the applicable Utah Statute, the obvious intent is the same. The test is not whether it is necessary to go on a public road to get from one field to another, but rather, whether it is necessary to go on a public road to perform the function for which the farm implement is designed.

This analysis and rationale comports with the Utah statutes in this area. Indeed, if that were not the case, paragraph c of Utah Code Ann. §41-1-19 (1953) would be entirely unnecessary in light of paragraph b's registration exemption for "any vehicle which is driven or moved upon a highway only for the purpose of crossing such highway from one property to another". Surely, if the Utah legislature had not intended

that farm implements be given the latitude suggested by Respondents, it would have so stated.

In the present case, contrary to Appellant's implications, it was not necessary that the feeder unit go on a public road to perform its intended function. Its use thereon was merely incidental to its operation and necessitated only because of the location of certain of Respondent's animals. Clearly, therefore, pursuant to the applicable registration statutes, the Respondents' vehicle was not in any way subject to the Utah State motor vehicle registration requirements.

It should again be noted that none of the applicable Utah statutes set any criteria as to distance that can be traveled on a public highway by an exempt vehicle. Said statutes merely require that the operation thereon be "incidental". The undisputed evidence is that for ten years the feeder truck was used by defendants exclusively on and about their 2800-acre ranch or the property adjacent thereto or across the road therefrom. (Deposition of Orvil Andrews, page 25.) Any use on the public road was incidental to the cattle feeding purposes for which the feeder truck was designed.

For the reasons set forth hereinabove, and in accordance with the provisions of Utah Code Ann. 41-1-19(c) (1953), Respondents assert that the lower court was correct in its decision that the feeder unit in question herein was not subject to Utah motor vehicle registration.

2. Designed for use principally off public roads.

It is undisputed that, at the time of the subject accident, the feeder unit in question was exclusively designed to unload and deliver forage to cattle in a particular way with a minimum of hand labor and at greater speed and efficiency. It is similarly undisputed that Respondents, at no time, attempted to feed or maintain their cattle on public roads or highways. As such, it is obvious that the subject feeder unit was designed for use principally off public roads.

Considering essentially the same issue as presented herein, the Texas Supreme Court in Allred v. Engleman reached the same result as noted above. In that case an issue was raised as to whether the trucks with water and gas tanks installed were designed primarily for agriculture use as opposed to use on public highways. The court considered the uses of the respective vehicles and concluded that the water trucks provided irrigation water to otherwise dry land and that the gas trucks provided fuel for tractors in the field without which the tractors would be useless. The Court, referring to the water and gas trucks, said, "While they might conceivably be put to other uses they were designed primarily and used exclusively for agricultural purposes." Pursuant to that statement, the Court went on to hold that the trucks were, as a result, designed for use principally off public highway and not subject to highway motor vehicle registration.

In the present case, there can be no question but that the feeder unit was used exclusively for agricultural purposes. In accordance with the holding in Allred, the Court herein must uphold the lower court and find that the subject feeder unit was designed for use principally off public roads.

This conclusion is similarly mandated by the language contained within the subject insurance policy. As noted above, that policy states that an exempt vehicle is one "which is designed for use principally off public roads." It does not say that the vehicle must be used primarily off public roads. Obviously, the policies language and intent centers around the purpose for which the vehicle was designed and not its occasional non-conforming use.

In the instant case, the vehicle was specifically designed to directly feed cattle by mechanically unloading and depositing feed in mangers or on the ground. The above-quoted language does not, as written, prohibit use on the highway as appellant urges. If such a prohibition were intended, the word "designed" would have to have been omitted. Insofar as it has been included however, the obvious intent of the provision is to look to the use for which the vehicle is designed, not whether it is capable of, or in fact, used on a public road. As noted numerous times above, the subject unit was clearly designed for use off public roads and must be considered as such by the Court herein.


The feeder unit in question is, as noted above, exempt from motor vehicle registration and is designed for feeding cattle; a use which is principally performed off public highways. As such, the subject vehicle clearly qualifies as a piece of "equipment" not subject to Utah highway registration and designed principally for off road uses. Pursuant thereto, it constitutes an exemption from the term "automobile" and is encompassed by the terms of the subject insurance policy. Respondents assert, therefore, that the lower court was correct in its decision and urge this Court to summarily dismiss Appellant's appeal.

IV. CONCLUSION


For the reasons set forth hereinabove, Respondents assert that the subject vehicle is not an "automobile" pursuant to the terms of the applicable insurance policy, that the policy should apply and protect Respondents herein and that the lower court was entirely correct in its decision in that regard. It is respectfully submitted, therefore, that Appellant has not established the required burden of showing reversible error as a matter of law, and consequently, the lower court's holding must be upheld and not reversed and Appellant's appeal herein must be summarily dismissed.